PCM BEHAVIOR IN FINITE THICKNESS SLABS UNDER A STEP RESPONSE

HEAT INPUT

A Thesis

by

MICHAEL EDISON DECKARD

Submitted to the Graduate and Professional School of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Chair of Committee,	Patrick Shamberger
Committee Members,	Jonathan Felts
	Ankit Srivastava
Head of Department,	Ibrahim Karaman

December 2021

Major Subject: Materials Science and Engineering

Copyright 2021 Michael Deckard

ABSTRACT

Phase change materials (PCMs) can provide thermal buffering to systems that experience transient heat loads, including electronics packaging. Placing the PCM in the primary path of heat rejection decreases the thermal resistance between the heat source and the PCM volume, but increases the total thermal resistance between the heat source and heat sink. In systems that operate in both steady-state and transient regimes, this introduces tradeoffs between cooling performance in these distinct regimes. Employing a conductive finite volume model, Parapower, we investigate those tradeoffs considering the impact of adding a layer of gallium, a low melting point metal, and a layer of copper between a planar heat source and a convective boundary condition heatsink. We demonstrate: 1) side-by-side comparisons of latent (Ga) and sensible (Cu) heat storage layers must consider different layer thicknesses to account for the different thermal storage mechanisms, 2) for short periods of time, conditions exist in which a PCM outperforms a traditional heat sink for transient thermal buffering at an equivalent steady state temperature rise, and 3) under these conditions, the Ga layer is approximately an order of magnitude thinner than the equivalent Cu, leading to significant mass and volume savings.

DEDICATION

Dedicated to my wife, mother, father, brother, and Ramon Olachia, whom have made me far greater a person than I otherwise would be, and without which this work would not exist. To my younger self, who always doubted I would accomplish anything of substance.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee chair, Dr. Shamberger, and my committee members, Dr. Felts and Dr. Srivastava, for their guidance and support throughout the course of this research.

Thanks also go to my friends and colleagues and the department faculty and staff for making my time at Texas A&M University a great experience.

Finally, thanks to my wife for her unending patience, love, and aggressive support.

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

This work was supervised by a thesis committee consisting of Professor Shamberger and Professor Srivastava of the Department of Material Science and Engineering and Professor Felts of the Department of Mechanical Engineering. **Funding Sources**

We acknowledge Army Research Lab, cooperative agreement contract # W911NF1920264 for financially supporting this work

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
DEDICATION iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCESv
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURESvii
LIST OF TABLESix
1. INTRODUCTION
2. METHODS
2.1. Simulation62.1.1. Program and Discretization62.1.2. System Geometry and Material Properties82.2. Theory10
3. RESULTS & DISCUSSION
3.1. Transient and Steady State Temperature Rise Trade Offs
4. CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Generalized configurations of electronics package, where a PCM volume may be introduced either a) not in the primary path of heat rejection (i.e., thermally in parallel), or b) in the primary path of heat rejection (i.e., thermally in series between the heat source and heat sink)
Figure 2 a) Geometry of the system of study. b) schematic of temperatures initially at steady state undergo a transient heat pulse for the geometry of a)9
Figure 3 Transient temperature rise above the ambient at a time of t , = 0.1 s, for both conductor (Cu) and PCM (Ga) test layer cases, at $q2'' = 100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, and $H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$
Figure 4 Internal temperature distributions at times between 0 and 0.1 s for thickness corresponding to points a-f in Fig. 3. The silicon carbide/test layer interface is shown with a vertical line. Bold line indicates $T(y)$ at $t = 0.1$ s. For all cases, Ga layer thickness is approximately an order of magnitude thinner than Cu layer thickness for points corresponding to the same ΔT steady , due to the ratio of thermal conductivities of Ga and Cu
Figure 5 Transient temperature suppression for conductor and PCM heatsinks as functions of steady state temperature rise at times ranging from 1 ms to 1 s. For all cases, $q2'' = 100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, and $H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$ 16
Figure 6 Parametric temperature rise at different times for systematically increasing $q2''$: a) $q2'' = 100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, b) $q2'' = 200 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, c) $q2'' = 5100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$. For all cases, $H = 5,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$. Legend for times illustrated in Fig. 6a. Squares illustrate crossover points for times 0.1 s and below
Figure 7 Parametric temperature rise at different times for systematically increasing $H: a) H = 5,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}, b) H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}, c) H = 25,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$. For all cases, $q2'' = 100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$. Legend for times illustrated in Fig. 7a. Squares illustrate crossover points for times 0.1 s and below18
Figure 8 a) Maximum temperature within the simulation for Copper and Gallium test layers with T diff = 0 °C and $H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot \text{°C}^{-1}$, and b) the difference of the maximum temperature between simulations with Copper and Gallium test layers
Figure 9 a) Maximum temperature within the simulation for Cu and Ga test layers

Figure 9 a) Maximum temperature within the simulation for Cu and Ga test layers with L = 0.1 mm and $H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot \text{°C}^{-1}$, and b) the difference of the maximum temperature between simulations with Cu and Ga test layers.

Grey boxes highlight the times at which the Gallium case for T diff = 25 °C is melting	22
Figure 10 a) Maximum temperature within the simulation for Copper and Gallium	
test layers with $Tdiff=0$ °C and L= 1 mm and b) the difference of the	
maximum temperature between simulations with Copper and Gallium test	
layers where negative numbers indicates the Gallium case is at a lower	
temperature	24

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Thermo	physical	properties	of material	s used in th	his study)
---------	--------	----------	------------	-------------	--------------	-----------	--	---

1. INTRODUCTION

Phase change materials (PCMs) have the capability of providing transient thermal buffering by absorbing/discharging thermal energy during melting/freezing. Thermal storage and temperature suppression applications for this are numerous, and include heat transfer modules, power storage, and composite material design for these applications. In my time at Texas A&M, I have incorporated PCM physics into physics based simulations, aided in the design and evaluation of heat transfer modules, contributed to the design of lamellar composite PCMs, and performed a study on the effectiveness of PCMs in electronic heat sinks. For the sake of brevity, this master's thesis shall focus on the most latter of these.

As power electronics modules decrease in size and increase in power, transient temperature spikes become a greater threat to module lifespan.[1], [2] PCMs have shown to be promising candidates for reducing transient temperature spikes in power electronics packaging under transient thermal loads, due to their large effective thermal storage capability, derived from the latent heat of fusion, in a small and compact volume.[3]–[5] Generally speaking, two principle configurations exist for integrating PCMs into an electronics package: 1) locating PCMs in the primary path of heat rejection (i.e., thermally in series between the heat source and heat sink), or 2) locating PCMs in a secondary position, creating a secondary thermal reservoir which is not in the primary path of heat rejection (i.e., thermally in parallel) (Fig. 1). Placing PCMs in a secondary position could include integrating PCMs in a potting compound that surrounds a device, or using a thermal ground plane to move spread heat laterally and into a volume of PCM.[6]–[8] PCMs in secondary positions utilize volume which was not previously utilized as part of the thermal management system, but have the potential downside that the PCM is not as closely integrated, and therefore not as responsive, as if it is in more direct thermal path to the heat source. Placing PCMs directly in the primary path of heat rejection could include integrating PCMs into an electronics package or integrated within a heat sink.[4], [5], [9], [10] While this configuration generally reduces the thermal resistance between the heat source and the PCM volume, it does so at the cost of increasing the resistance between the heat source in the steady state condition. Thus, while integrating PCMs in the primary path of heat rejection offers intriguing possibilities, the general tradeoffs associated with this configuration have not been fully explored.



Figure 1 Generalized configurations of electronics package, where a PCM volume may be introduced either a) not in the primary path of heat rejection (i.e., thermally in parallel), or b) in the primary path of heat rejection (i.e., thermally in series between the heat source and heat sink)

Electronic devices are subject to both transient and steady state temperature rises, based on the device operation mode (pulsed or steady). Mitigating these temperature rises can introduce competing thermal requirements for a system. For example, the transient temperature rise may be mitigated by increasing the total thermal capacitance of the system, either by increasing sensible heat storage (by increasing the package mass), or by introducing latent heat storage (introducing PCMs).[11] However, introducing thermal capacitance can increase the overall thermal resistance of the system if the additional package mass or PCM is in the primary path of heat rejection, which in turn increases the steady-state temperature rise. Thus, in systems which operate under mixed pulsed and steady modes, there likely exist tradeoffs between the transient and the steady state temperature rise. It is currently unclear how to assess such tradeoffs, particularly for cases which include PCMs.

In the case of PCMs in the primary path of heat rejection, it is clear that the effective thermal conductivity is a critical thermophysical property. In the steady state case, higher thermal conductivity tends to decrease the temperature rise due to Fourier law effects. In the transient case, higher thermal conductivity (as well as higher volumetric latent heat of fusion) tends to increase the rate of heat transfer into a PCM volume, also resulting in decrease in the junction temperature. Efforts to increase thermal conductivity in PCMs generally consists of creating composites of PCMs and thermally conductive materials such as carbon nanotubes,[12] pin or finned heatsinks [13]–[15], inverse opal structures [16], and expanded graphite [13]. Alternatively, metallic PCMs have larger intrinsic thermal conductivity, and are not subject to some of the issues associated with other thermal enhancement approaches (separation, manufacturing issues, etc.).[17]–[19]

Krishnan and Garimella investigated introducing a slab of copper or PCM between the heat source (electronic package) and the heat sink, simulated by a convectively cooled boundary condition.[9] This paper established that, under certain circumstances, PCMs with high thermal conductivities (metallic alloys or copper foam/wax composites) can suppress junction temperature compared to copper heat sinks in the primary conduction path.[9] In addition, approximate expressions were derived to estimate the volume of PCM needed and the relative magnitude of performance improvement vs copper or other PCMs. However, this study 1) focused on a very limited range of low heat fluxes (3 to 6 W \cdot cm⁻²) and heat transfer coefficients on the cooled side of a slab (12 W \cdot m⁻² °C), which are not representative of many different conditions of interest in high power density systems, 2) does not directly address the relative tradeoffs between temperature rise in the steady state and in the transient condition, 3) considers only a single identical thickness slab, whereas it is clear that the optimal thickness for a PCM slab will vary greatly from that of a copper slab which stores heat through sensible heating, and finally 4) only considers systems which are initially at the melting point of the PCM, with no undercooling. Thus, in general, the relative tradeoffs introduced by placing a PCM volume directly in the path between the heat source and the ultimate heat sink remain unresolved.

Here, the feasibility of incorporating a metallic PCM (gallium) into the primary conduction path of a power electronics package under transient loads is examined. The response of a PCM under a step input transient load in comparison to a conductor in the primary path of thermal conduction with an initial steady state load is determined. It is shown that PCMs can provide superior temperature suppression for transient thermal loads in comparison to traditional conduction technologies under steady state load initial conditions. The effects of altering backside convection, initial and ambient temperatures, and PCM thickness on comparative temperature suppression are discussed. This study demonstrates that PCMs in the primary path of conduction can be a viable thermal management solution and introduces design trends useful to optimizing PCM use.

2. METHODS

2.1. Simulation

2.1.1. Program and Discretization

Simulations were performed with the Army Research Lab (ARL) Parapower program.[20] Parapower is a finite volume simulation tool built in Matlab that uses an implicit Euler finite difference method, combined with an implementation of the enthalpy method to simulate melting. [21] The program is a parametric solver capable of iterating over several different designs in a short span of time. Parapower has been extensively validated through a benchmark comparison to ANSYS, and analytical solutions. [20], [22], [23] Additionally, Parapower demonstrates the properties of convergence and consistency by trending towards a given solution value as mesh and time step size are decreased and mesh quality remains constant.[24] Parapower approximates the solution to the cartesian heat diffusion equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\left(k\frac{\partial T}{\partial x}\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\left(k\frac{\partial T}{\partial y}\right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial z}\left(k\frac{\partial T}{\partial z}\right) + q = \rho c \frac{\partial T}{\partial t}.$$
 Eq.1

This is done by creating a thermal resistance network and solving for the temperature at each time embodied by a matrix of the form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{1,1}^{p} & \cdots & C_{1,n}^{p} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ C_{n,1}^{p} & \cdots & C_{n,n}^{p} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} T_{1}^{p+1} \\ \vdots \\ T_{n}^{p+1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} q_{1}^{n} \\ \vdots \\ q_{n}^{n} \\ p_{n}^{p+1} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{1}{\Delta t} \begin{bmatrix} \rho_{1}^{p} c_{1}^{p} V_{1} \\ T_{1}^{p} \\ \vdots \\ \rho_{n}^{p} c_{1}^{p} V_{n} \\ T_{n}^{p} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \text{Eq. 2}$$

where T is the temperature, q^{ν} is the heat flux, Δt is the size of the time step, ρ is the density, c is the specific heat, and V is the volume of a given node. C indicates the total conductance between two given adjacent nodes in the rectilinear grid. The subscript indicates the specific element in the resistance network. The superscript indicates the time step of being referenced where p is the current time. PCM liquid fraction and temperature during melting are modified by the equation

$$\Phi_j^{p+1} = \Phi_j^p + \frac{(T_j^{p+1} - T_{mj})c_j^{p+1}}{H_j},$$
 Eq. 3

where the *j* subscript indicates a particular PCM element, Φ is the melted phase fraction in that element, T_m is the melting temperature of the element, and *H* is the enthalpy of fusion of the PCM element. Once the melted phase fraction reaches 1, the melting reaction is complete, and additional heating results in sensible heating of a volume. Thus, all of the melting materials in this study melt at a single well-defined temperature.

A variable grid size was used to capture the relevant physics within the materials with minimum computational complexity. The meshes generated within Parapower are natively 3D, however X and Y spatial discretization was not used, resulting in simulations that are effectively 1D. All element size dimensions given correspond to the Z direction. The silicon carbide had an element size of 0.05 mm. The test layer had two different element sizes: one near the silicon carbide/test layer interface to capture more early melting processes that are more sensitive to element size and a second courser element size to describe the remainder of the test layer. The finer test layer element size is used for the first 1/10th of the thickness of the test layer next to the silicon carbide interface, and subdivides this space into 10 elements. The remainder of the test layer is subdivided into 9 elements. For the thickest PCM test layer of 10 mm, this resulted in elements too large to adequately capture the melting physics. The finer grid was changed to compose the first 3/10th of the test layer with an element size of 0.025 mm for the 10 mm thickness case to address this. Interfacial thermal resistance is considered negligible and is not included in this model. Likewise, convection within melted PCM is considered negligible as both the small timescales of interest and small thicknesses reduce the impact of convection.[9]

2.1.2. System Geometry and Material Properties

The geometry of this study consists of a bilayer slab, heated on one side by a constant heat flux for a finite period of time, and subject to a convective boundary condition on the opposing side (Fig. 2). The slab is composed of a 0.5 mm thick silicon carbide slab, representing a power electronics chip, directly in contact with a slab referred to as the 'test layer', composed of either copper or a PCM material. The test layer has a thickness of *L* (from 0.1 to 10 mm). The top surface (y = L + 0.5 mm) is cooled by convection, where the convection coefficient, h_{∞} , varies from 10¹ to 10⁴ W·m⁻ ².°C⁻¹, and the temperature of the coolant fluid, T_{∞} , varies from -70.2 °C To 29.8 °C, corresponding to $T_{\rm m}$ to $T_{\rm m}$ -100°C, where $T_{\rm m}$ =29.8°C. All other boundary conditions are adiabatic. All temperature measurements are taken at the heated base surface, which represents the hottest location within the simulation. The thermophysical properties for the phases used in this study can be found in Table 1. Material properties are not

strongly temperature dependent over the temperature range concerned. Therefore, the temperature dependence of the material properties are neglected.



Figure 2 a) Geometry of the system of study. b) schematic of temperatures initially at steady state undergo a transient heat pulse for the geometry of a)

Table 1 Thermophysical properties	of mat	erials used	in this study
	SiC ^a	Copper ^b	Gallium ^c

Thermal cond. (sol.), k_{solid}	$W \cdot m^{-1} \cdot \Theta C^{-1}$	370	390	33.7
Thermal cond. (liq.), <i>k</i> _{liquid}	$W \cdot m^{-1} \cdot {}^{\Theta}C^{-1}$	-	-	24
Density (sol.), ρ_{solid}	kg·m ⁻³	3210	8,900	5,903
Density (liq.), $ ho_{ ext{liquid}}$	kg·m ⁻³	-	-	6,093
Specific Heat (sol.), <i>c</i> , sol	$J \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot {}^{\Theta}C^{-1}$	750	390	340
Specific Heat (liq.), $c_{, liq}$	$J \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot {}^{\Theta}C^{-1}$	-	-	397
Melting temp., $T_{\rm m}$	С	-	-	29.8
Enthalpy of Fusion, <i>H</i>	$J \cdot g^{-1}$	-	-	80.3

^a Properties from ref. [25], [26]

^b Properties from ref. [27], [28]

^c Properties from ref. [29]

2.2. Theory

For the majority of the cases outlined in this paper, the lumped capacitance method applies. This states that if the Biot is less than 0.1, then the temperature variation within the system is small compared to the temperature differences outside of the system, and the system may be treated as being at a uniform temperature with a small amount of relative error. Lumped capacitance does not apply during melting of a PCM. The Biot number here takes the form

$$Bi = h_{\infty} \left(\frac{\Delta x_s}{k_s} + \frac{\Delta x_t}{k_t} \right)$$

where Δx_s and Δx_t are the thicknesses and k_s and k_t are the thermal conductivities of the silicon carbide chip and test layers, respectively. Under the conditions of this paper, all simulations with the exception of PCM cases with convections coefficients at or over 1000 w/m²k and thicknesses at or greater than 0.001 m have a biot number less than 0.1.

When evaluating a transient thermal response, it is useful to identify different characteristic times, which govern the key phenomena occurring within the volume a point in time. Of key importance is the relative thermal rise constant τ . This quantity describes the time taken to reach $\approx 63.2\%$ of the steady state temperature rise assuming no melting effects are taken into account. Thus, for all the systems described here, if a PCM is not actively melting, the temperature rise with time takes a characteristic shape that can be described by τ . Utilizing the lumped capacitance assumption, this quantity can be defined as:

where ρ_s , V_s , c_s , and ρ_t , V_t , c_t are the densities, volumes, and specific heats of the silicon carbide chip and test layers, respectively. *A* is the convective area.[30] Temperature rise *T* within the simulation before melting can be then be found as:

$$\frac{T - T_{\infty} - \frac{q^n}{h_{\infty} A}}{T_i - T_{\infty} - \frac{q^n}{h_{\infty} A}} = \exp\left(-\frac{t}{\tau}\right),$$
 Eq. 5

where T_i is the initial temperature.[30] From Eq. 5, the onset of melting is found to be:

$$t_{m,start} = -\tau \ln \left(\frac{T_m - T_\infty - \frac{q^n}{h_\infty A}}{T_i - T_\infty - \frac{q^n}{h_\infty A}} \right).$$
 Eq. 6

 $t_{m,finis}$, the time at which all PMC in a system has fully melted, can be found using the quasi-steady state approximation and takes the form

$$t_{m,fini} = \frac{L\rho H}{q_{"}} + t_{m,start}.$$
[5] Eq. 7

3. RESULTS & DISCUSSION

3.1. Transient and Steady State Temperature Rise Trade Offs

A parametric sweep of test layer thickness is performed for both PCM and Cu layers to determine transient and steady state temperature rise trade-offs and to evaluate Pareto optimal dominance at any point. As the test layer thickness increases, the steady state temperature rise increases due to higher total thermal resistance, while transient temperature rise decreases, due to the higher total thermal capacitance. In these simulations, the system starts with a uniform initial temperature equal to the ambient temperature. The two cases are exposed to an initial heat flux at the heated surface, $q_1'' =$ 10 W·cm⁻², and allowed to equilibrate. The heat flux is then increased to a higher value, designated $q_2'' = 100$ to 500 W·cm⁻² at t' = 0 s. Convection coefficients range from H =5,000 to 25,000 W \cdot m^{-2.}°C⁻¹. The test layer thickness in these simulations is chosen to reach a target steady state temperature $\Delta T_{\text{steady}} = T_0 - T_{\infty}$, t' = 0 s, and ranges from 0.116 mm to 7.739 mm for the conductor, and from 0.01 mm to 0.913 mm for the PCM. The ambient temperature is chosen such that the SiC-test layer interface is less than 0.2 °C below the melting temperature of the PCM after equilibrating. The PCM test layer begins melting immediately after exposure to q_2'' and the transient temperature rise $\Delta T_{\text{trans}} = T_0 - T_{\infty}, t' > 0$ s at the heated surface is recorded at various times. The transient temperature rise at various times and steady state temperatures are compared. An introductory figure detailing a single selected time is shown in Fig. 3.



Figure 3 Transient temperature rise above the ambient at a time of $t^{2} = 0.1$ s, for both conductor (Cu) and PCM (Ga) test layer cases, at $q_{2}^{\prime\prime} = 100$ W·cm⁻², and H = 10,000 W·m^{-2.o}C⁻¹.

Parametric plots, which illustrate ΔT_{trans} and ΔT_{steady} as parametric functions of layer thickness, *L*, allow for a ready comparison of the two different layer types on the temperature rise at the junction (Fig. 3). For thicknesses which result in an equivalent steady-state temperature rise, the PCM case remains cooler during the transient heat pulse for thicknesses greater than the crossover (points c, d; Fig. 3), while the conductor case remains cooler for thicknesses less than the crossover point. As the steady-state temperature rise is directly correlated to the thermal resistance between the heat source and the heat sink, it is also linearly related to the thickness of both the PCM and conductor cases. The total heat capacitance in the conductor case increases increasing steady-state temperature rise, and results in decreasing transient temperature rise. As the steady-state temperature rise of the PCM case increases, the total potential latent heat stored increases and at point e, the PCM has just fully melted at this time. At steady-state temperatures lower than point e (Fig. 3), the PCM has fully melted and the transient temperature rise increases at a more rapid pace than the conductor case due to the lower specific heat derived thermal capacitance of the PCM.



Figure 4 Internal temperature distributions at times between 0 and 0.1 s for thickness corresponding to points a-f in Fig. 3. The silicon carbide/test layer interface is shown with a vertical line. Bold line indicates T(y) at t = 0.1 s. For all cases, Ga layer thickness is approximately an order of magnitude thinner than Cu layer thickness for points corresponding to the same ΔT_{steady} , due to the ratio of thermal conductivities of Ga and Cu.

The internal temperature distribution at various times during a transient heat

pulse is shown in Fig. 4. Cases horizontal to each other e.g., a and b, have the same total

thermal resistance (using solid PCM material properties) and have the same steady-state

temperature rise. At many times less than 0.1 s (Fig. 4), the PCM cases have not fully melted and the temperature distribution within the PCM rapidly drops to the melting temperature. At ~0.1 s (the time shown in Fig. 3), although the PCM has fully melted in all cases, the PCM in cases c and e still provide for better transient temperature rise suppression than the copper cases d and f. Although brief, this is due to the PCM cases having superior temperature suppression up until this point and the rapidly rising temperature still catching up to the copper test layer cases. This is shows that PCM based transient temperature suppression can extend briefly beyond the time where the PCM fully melts. The copper test layer cases b, d, and f demonstrate the largely uniform temperature distribution within the entire structure. The large space taken up by the copper layer is necessary as energy is stored there as sensible heat, but since the thermal conductivity and diffusivity is large, there are only small temperature drops across the length of the test layer. This contrasts with the PCM case as energy is stored in a more energy dense form as latent heat but with much lower thermal conductivities which results in much smaller layers, but with steeper temperature drop. The difference in

thickness between similarly performing PCM and copper cases may be an important design decision for space limited applications.



Figure 5 Transient temperature suppression for conductor and PCM heatsinks as functions of steady state temperature rise at times ranging from 1 ms to 1 s. For all cases, $q_2'' = 100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, and $H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot \text{°C}^{-1}$.

Fig. 5 shows the comparative transient temperature rise above the ambient temperature at different levels of steady-state temperature rise for PCM and conductor test layer cases. At times of 0.1 s and less, there exist conditions under which a pure PCM can achieve a greater degree of transient temperature suppression performance at the same level of steady-state temperature suppression performance. Fig. 6 and Fig. 7 perform this same comparison, but additionally compare selected values of transient heat flux and convection coefficient, respectively. The benefits of the PCM diminish as transient heat flux increases and disappears altogether at $q_2^n = 500 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$. Convection coefficient has little effect on the comparative performance between the PCM and conductor cases, but the overall magnitude of the temperature rise differs between cases with different convection coefficients.



Figure 6 Parametric temperature rise at different times for systematically increasing q_2'' : a) $q_2'' = 100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, b) $q_2'' = 200 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$, c) $q_2'' = 5100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$. For

all cases, $H = 5,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2.\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$. Legend for times illustrated in Fig. 6a. Squares illustrate crossover points for times 0.1 s and below.



Figure 7 Parametric temperature rise at different times for systematically increasing *H*: a) $H = 5,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$, b) $H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$, c) $H = 25,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot ^{\circ}\text{C}^{-1}$. For all cases, $q_2'' = 100 \text{ W} \cdot \text{cm}^{-2}$. Legend for times illustrated in Fig. 7a. Squares illustrate crossover points for times 0.1 s and below.

3.2. Effects of individual Variables on PCM Versus Conductor Performance

The factors in relative transient thermal buffering between PCMs and conductors are investigated to develop design guidelines for incorporating PCMs for in-path pulsed thermal loads. The variables investigated are the thickness of the test layer *L*, the convection coefficient on the cooled surface of the test layer h_{∞} , and the initial & ambient temperature of the system measured as the degree of undercooling below the melting point of the PCM T_{diff} . The initial and ambient temperature are always equal to one another. The PCM is initially entirely solid. The system begins at a uniform initial temperature and is exposed to a heat flux of 100 W·cm⁻² at time t = 0 s and is simulated for 2.5 s with a timestep of 0.25 ms. The test layer is composed of either gallium or copper. For the simulations where *L* is the variable, $H = 10,000 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot \text{c}^{-1}$ and a $T_{\text{diff}} =$ 0 °C are used, while *L* takes values of either 0.1 mm, 1 mm, or 10 mm. For the simulations where *H* is the variable, $T_{\text{diff}} = 0$ °C and L = 1 mm, while *H* varies from 10 W·m^{-2.} °C⁻¹ to 10,000 W·m^{-2.} °C⁻¹ by orders of magnitude. For the simulations that determined the trends in changing the initial and ambient temperatures, H = 10,000





Figure 8 a) Maximum temperature within the simulation for Copper and Gallium test layers with $T_{\text{diff}} = 0$ °C and $H = 10,000 \text{ W}\cdot\text{m}^{-2}\cdot\text{°C}^{-1}$, and b) the difference of the maximum temperature between simulations with Copper and Gallium test layers. The blue dot represents the time at which the Gallium fully melts.

As the thickness of the test layers increases the maximum comparative performance of the PCM to the conductor first increases and then decreases (Fig. 8). Additionally, time until the PCM is fully melted increases as well. This may be seen by the sharp transitions in the temperature vs time behavior of the PCM cases. The time for fully melting for L = 1 mm is displayed as an example by the blue dots. Finally, the rate at which PCM case begins to outperform the conductor, shown as the slope of temperature difference, decreases as the thickness increases.

The decrease in the rate of temperature rise in the copper case with increasing thickness can be attributed to an increase in the thermal capacitance of the system. This can be seen from the increase in τ from Equation 4 and the resulting decrease in temperature at a given time from Equation 5. For the cases here, the temperature rise in the PCM cases are unaffected by thickness, except for, and until, the PCM melts. Therefore, the cause of the larger slope for the comparative temperature suppression in the 0.1 mm and 1 mm cases is due to the difference in thermal capacitance of the conductor case. The time that temperature suppression occurs over is directly related to the thickness of the PCM. As the PCM increases in thickness, the amount of thermal energy it can absorb before melting increases, which in turn increases the time of the thermal suppression. For the case of a 10 mm copper test layer compared to PCM, the thermal capacitance of the copper is large enough to suppress the temperature rise at the heated surface to a significant degree. In this case, the larger temperature gradient that develops in the PCM layer due to its lower thermal conductivity is now the limiting



factor in the performance of the temperature suppression of the system.

Figure 9 a) Maximum temperature within the simulation for Cu and Ga test layers with L = 0.1 mm and $H = 10,000 \text{ W}\cdot\text{m}^{-2}\cdot\text{°C}^{-1}$, and b) the difference of the maximum temperature between simulations with Cu and Ga test layers. Grey boxes highlight the times at which the Gallium case for $T_{\text{diff}} = 25 \text{ °C}$ is melting

Greater degrees of undercooling of the PCM increases the time at which the temperature suppression effects of the PCM begin(Fig. 9). This additionally affects the time at which the temperature suppression from the PCM ends in most cases. For the majority of cases, the duration of the temperature suppression remains relatively

unchanged. The degree of undercooling has an effect on the amount of time that passes before the PCM reaches the melting temperature, and the relative difference between the rate of temperature rise in the PCM and copper cases before melting determines the extent of the detriment of the inactive PCM. The degree of comparative temperature suppression that the PCM grants is dependent upon the rate of increase in the temperature of the copper case during melting in the PCM. In cases of very large undercooling such as $T_{\text{diff}} = 100$ °C, the PCM may never reach the melting temperature, and the benefits of the PCM never materialize.



Figure 10 a) Maximum temperature within the simulation for Copper and Gallium test layers with T_{diff} =0°C and L= 1 mm and b) the difference of the maximum temperature between simulations with Copper and Gallium test layers where negative numbers indicates the Gallium case is at a lower temperature

In Fig. 10, results are show for selected cases where the convection coefficient is the only varying factor. As the convection coefficient changes, the copper case is affected at all times, but convection effects are only seen in the PCM case after melting. In addition, the degree of temperature suppression granted by use of the PCM is decreased with increasing convection coefficient.

For cases where the ambient and initial temperatures are equal to the melting temperature of the PCM, there are no convection effects on the PCM case before melting finishes. As such, convection only plays a role in the copper case before melting. The change in the effectiveness of the comparative temperature suppression with variable convection can be contributed wholly to the change in the response of the copper case with convection. As convection increases, the τ and ΔT_{steady} decrease, resulting in a decreased improvement in performance when compared to the PCM case. In addition, after melting has occurred, convection effects have a stronger effect on the PCM case than the copper case due to the greater temperature differences across the convection interface, ultimately due to the lower thermal conductivity of the PCM. As a result, as convection increases, the detriment of inactive melted PCM is reduced compared to the copper case.

Under conditions where the initial temperature and ambient temperature are not equal to the melting temperature of the PCM, a change in convection can have further effects such as extending melting time and can have an impact on temperature rise in the PCM case before melting has occurred. The impact of higher convection coefficients in such cases can mean the difference between a PCM being beneficial to a system or being completely a detriment.

There are design decisions to be made in addressing the degree of thickness of a conductive layer in transient problems. As the thickness increases, the steady state temperature rise increases. However, the thermal capacitance increases with increasing thickness as well, which reduces the temperature rise at a given time (Fig. 3). In heat sinks that are built to handle high steady state load condition with lower transient loads, this trade-off is moot as the steady state temperature is always greater than the temperature rise of the transient response. However, systems built to operate in a transient regime need to consider reducing transient temperature rise and for the steady state temperature rise and for the steady state temperature rise that may be encountered during a system failure or overload.

4. CONCLUSIONS

It is shown that there exists reasonable conditions under which a pure PCM in the path of primary heat transfer will have superior transient temperature suppression performance over a pure conductor. The benefit of whether a pure PCM will be beneficial in the primary direction of heat transfer depends on a number of criteria. Low convection coefficients result in greater temperature rise in the copper case, resulting in greater benefits from the temperature suppression from PCM. Greater degrees of undercooling below the melting point of the PCM results in less efficient use of the temperature suppressing effects of the PCM, and delayed benefits from the PCM. Low existing thermal capacitance in the system results in large transient temperature rises, allowing greater PCM temperature suppression benefits. The thickness of the PCM should be tailored to absorb a designated thermal pulse and no greater to avoid the existence of untransformed PCM which only acts as an insulator.

REFERENCES

- R. W. Johnson, J. L. Evans, P. Jacobsen, J. R. Thompson, and M. Christopher, "The changing automotive environment: high-temperature electronics," *IEEE Trans. Electron. Packag. Manuf.*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 164–176, Jul. 2004, doi: 10.1109/TEPM.2004.843109.
- [2] H. P. de Bock *et al.*, "A System to Package Perspective on Transient Thermal Management of Electronics," *J. Electron. Packag.*, vol. 142, no. 4, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1115/1.4047474.
- [3] A. Raghavan *et al.*, "Designing for Responsiveness with Computational Sprinting," *IEEE Micro*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 8–15, May 2013, doi: 10.1109/MM.2013.51.
- [4] A. G. Evans, M. Y. He, J. W. Hutchinson, and M. Shaw, "Temperature Distribution in Advanced Power Electronics Systems and the Effect of Phase Change Materials on Temperature Suppression During Power Pulses," *J. Electron. Packag.*, vol. 123, no. 3, pp. 211–217, Sep. 2001, doi: 10.1115/1.1370376.
- [5] T. J. Lu, "Thermal management of high power electronics with phase change cooling," *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, vol. 43, no. 13, pp. 2245–2256, Jul. 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0017-9310(99)00318-X.
- [6] Y.-Z. Ling, X.-S. Zhang, F. Wang, and X.-H. She, "Performance study of phase change materials coupled with three-dimensional oscillating heat pipes with different structures for electronic cooling," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 154, pp. 636–649, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.renene.2020.03.008.
- [7] L. Boteler, M. Fish, M. Berman, and J. Wang, "Understanding Trade-Offs of Phase Change Materials for Transient Thermal Mitigation," in 2019 18th IEEE Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (ITherm), May 2019, pp. 870–877. doi: 10.1109/ITHERM.2019.8757253.
- [8] S. M. Hasnain, "Review on sustainable thermal energy storage technologies, Part I: heat storage materials and techniques," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 1127–1138, Aug. 1998, doi: 10.1016/S0196-8904(98)00025-9.
- [9] S. Krishnan and S. V. Garimella, "Thermal Management of Transient Power Spikes in Electronics—Phase Change Energy Storage or Copper Heat Sinks?," J. Electron. Packag., vol. 126, no. 3, pp. 308–316, Sep. 2004, doi: 10.1115/1.1772411.

- [10] T.- Rehman, H. M. Ali, A. Saieed, W. Pao, and M. Ali, "Copper foam/PCMs based heat sinks: An experimental study for electronic cooling systems," *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, vol. 127, pp. 381–393, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2018.07.120.
- [11] H. P. de Bock *et al.*, "A System to Package Perspective on Transient Thermal Management of Electronics," *J. Electron. Packag.*, vol. 142, no. 041111, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.1115/1.4047474.
- [12] C. Kinkelin *et al.*, "Theoretical and experimental study of a thermal damper based on a CNT/PCM composite structure for transient electronic cooling," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 142, pp. 257–271, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2017.03.034.
- [13] Q. Ren, P. Guo, and J. Zhu, "Thermal management of electronic devices using pin-fin based cascade microencapsulated PCM/expanded graphite composite," *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, vol. 149, p. 119199, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2019.119199.
- [14] A. Arshad, M. Jabbal, P. T. Sardari, M. A. Bashir, H. Faraji, and Y. Yan, "Transient simulation of finned heat sinks embedded with PCM for electronics cooling," *Therm. Sci. Eng. Prog.*, vol. 18, p. 100520, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.tsep.2020.100520.
- [15] V. Shatikian, G. Ziskind, and R. Letan, "Numerical investigation of a PCMbased heat sink with internal fins," *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, vol. 48, no. 17, pp. 3689–3706, Aug. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2004.10.042.
- [16] M. T. Barako, S. Lingamneni, J. S. Katz, T. Liu, K. E. Goodson, and J. Tice, "Optimizing the design of composite phase change materials for high thermal power density," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 124, no. 14, p. 145103, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1063/1.5031914.
- [17] H. Ge, H. Li, S. Mei, and J. Liu, "Low melting point liquid metal as a new class of phase change material: An emerging frontier in energy area," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 21, pp. 331–346, May 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2013.01.008.
- [18] D. Gonzalez-Nino *et al.*, "Experimental evaluation of metallic phase change materials for thermal transient mitigation," *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, vol. 116, pp. 512–519, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2017.09.039.
- [19] P. J. Shamberger and N. M. Bruno, "Review of metallic phase change materials for high heat flux transient thermal management applications," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 258, p. 113955, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.113955.

- [20] L. M. Boteler and S. M. Miner, "Power Packaging Thermal and Stress Model for Quick Parametric Analyses," presented at the ASME 2017 International Technical Conference and Exhibition on Packaging and Integration of Electronic and Photonic Microsystems collocated with the ASME 2017 Conference on Information Storage and Processing Systems, Oct. 2017. doi: 10.1115/IPACK2017-74130.
- [21] C. R. Swaminathan and V. R. Voller, "A general enthalpy method for modeling solidification processes," *Metall. Trans. B*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 651–664, Oct. 1992, doi: 10.1007/BF02649725.
- [22] L. M. Boteler and S. M. Miner, "Comparison of Thermal and Stress Analysis Results for a High Voltage Module Using FEA and a Quick Parametric Analysis Tool," presented at the ASME 2018 International Technical Conference and Exhibition on Packaging and Integration of Electronic and Photonic Microsystems, Nov. 2018. doi: 10.1115/IPACK2018-8394.
- [23] L. Boteler and A. Smith, "3D Thermal Resistance Network Method for the Design of Highly Integrated Packages," presented at the ASME 2013 Heat Transfer Summer Conference collocated with the ASME 2013 7th International Conference on Energy Sustainability and the ASME 2013 11th International Conference on Fuel Cell Science, Engineering and Technology, Dec. 2013. doi: 10.1115/HT2013-17575.
- [24] M. Deckard, P. Shamberger, M. Fish, M. Berman, J. Wang, and L. Boteler, "Convergence and Validation in ParaPower: A Design Tool for Phase Change Materials in Electronics Packaging," in 2019 18th IEEE Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (ITherm), May 2019, pp. 878–885. doi: 10.1109/ITHERM.2019.8757334.
- [25] G. L. Harris, *Properties of Silicon Carbide*. IET, 1995.
- [26] M. E. Levinshtein, S. L. Rumyantsev, and M. S. Shur, *Properties of Advanced Semiconductor Materials: GaN, AIN, InN, BN, SiC, SiGe*. John Wiley & Sons, 2001.
- [27] R. W. Powell, "Thermal conductivity of selected materials," p. 180.
- [28] Brookhaven National Laboratory Selected Cryogenic Data Notebook: Sections I-IX. Brookhaven National Laboratory, 1980.
- [29] PubChem, "Gallium." https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/5360835 (accessed May 19, 2021).
- [30] T. L. Bergman and F. P. Incropera, Eds., *Fundamentals of heat and mass transfer*, 7th ed. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley, 2011.